### **RECEIVED**

02-04-2020

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 19AP2397, 20AP0112

STATE OF WISCONSIN ex rel. TIMOTHY ZIGNEGO, DAVID W. OPITZ, and FREDERICK G. LUEHRS, III,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

WISCONSIN ELECTIONS COMMISSION, MARGE BOSTELMANN, JULIE GLANCEY, ANN JACOBS, DEAN KNUDSEN and MARK THOMSEN,

Defendants-Appellants.

APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE PAUL V. MALLOY, PRESIDING

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARLA Z. KECKHAVER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1028242

#### INTRODUCTION

Three Wisconsin voters filed this lawsuit seeking deactivation of the registrations of over 200,000 voters based on one source of information indicating that these voters may have moved from their voting residences. That effort is flawed for multiple reasons, including basic statutory ones. The statute that Plaintiffs sought to use—Wis. Stat. § 6.50(3)—has no application to their mass deactivation effort. It is triggered only by "reliable information" that a particular voter has moved outside a municipality. However, these proceedings examined no individual voter's circumstances, at all, but rather the circuit court adopted wholesale a single database—called ERIC—that is known not to always be an accurate indicator of whether a person has changed her voting residence. The "reliable information" statute cannot apply to these circumstances.

Much less do Plaintiffs have a right to seek mass-deactivation under it here. Rather, where individual electors like Plaintiffs seek to challenge another elector's registration, they must prove it beyond a reasonable doubt in a fact-finding proceeding before a local body.

These are not the only fundamental mismatches with the statute. Wisconsin Stat. § 6.50(3), by its plain terms, does not direct the Wisconsin Elections Commission (the "Commission") to do anything. It necessarily follows that the circuit court's mandamus order against the Commission to deactivate voter registrations was erroneous, as it is unquestionably true that a statute that does not even apply cannot supply the required clear, unequivocal, and non-discretionary duty to act. Rather, when it applies, section 6.50(3) allows local entities—municipal clerks and boards of elections commissioners—to deactivate voter registrations if there is "reliable information" that a particular voter has moved outside of the municipality. That is something that

requires local, on-the-ground determinations. There is simply no basis for a mass-deactivation writ against the Commission.

The circuit court failed to apply the plain terms of the statute and the mandamus standards, and its writ of mandamus should be reversed.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the circuit court properly issue a writ of mandamus ordering the Commission to comply with Wis. Stat. § 6.50(3) and deactivate voter registrations on a mass scale, when section 6.50(3) requires a discretionary reliability determination about a particular voter, provides no right to Plaintiffs to raise their mass challenge, and does not apply to the Commission in the first place?

The circuit court answered yes.

This Court should answer no.

2. Did the circuit court properly find the Commission in contempt for failing to comply with the writ of mandamus, when the Commission sought and was granted a stay of the writ and when the writ itself was unclear?

The circuit court answered yes.

This Court should answer no.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is unnecessary because the issues presented are fully briefed and may be resolved by applying well-established principles of statutory construction to undisputed facts.

Publication may be warranted because the statute in question—Wis. Stat. § 6.50(3)—has not been addressed in any published case and because the issues presented here are of substantial and continuing public interest.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### I. Statutory scheme

The Wisconsin Elections Commission is a state agency responsible for administering certain election laws in the state. Wis. Stat. § 5.05. Among other duties, the Commission is responsible for compiling and maintaining electronically an official voter registration list. Wis. Stat. §§ 5.05(15), 6.36(1). The list is maintained electronically on WisVote, the statewide election management and voter registration system. (R. 23:2.) Commission employees, municipal clerks, boards of election commissioners, and authorized election officials may make changes to the list when the statutes allow for revisions. Wis. Stat. §§ 6.36(1)(b)1.b., (1)(c), 7.20(1).

Revision of the list is required only under certain circumstances. One such circumstance is when an elector has not voted in the previous four years and does not respond to an official notice. Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 6.50(1), the Commission is required to "examine the registration records for each municipality and identify each elector who has not voted within the previous 4 years if qualified to do so during that entire period" and mail a notice to that elector notifying them that their registration will be suspended unless they apply for continuation of registration within 30 days. Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 6.50(2),

If an elector to whom the notice of suspension was mailed under sub. (1) has not applied for continuation of registration within 30 days of the date of mailing, the Commission shall change the registration status of that elector from eligible to ineligible on the day that falls 30 days after the date of mailing.

Wis. Stat. § 6.50(2).

Another circumstance requiring revision to the registration list is when the municipal clerk or municipal

board of election commissioners determines there is reliable information that an individual elector has changed her residence. Wis. Stat. § 6.50(3). Wisconsin Stat. § 6.50(3)—the only subsection at issue in this case—states in full:

Upon receipt of reliable information that a registered elector has changed his or her residence to a location outside of the municipality, the municipal clerk or board of election commissioners shall notify the elector by mailing a notice by 1st class mail to the elector's registration address stating the source of the information.

All municipal departments and agencies receiving information that a registered elector has changed his or her residence shall notify the clerk or board of election commissioners.

If the elector no longer resides in the municipality or fails to apply for continuation of registration within 30 days of the date the notice is mailed, the clerk or board of election commissioners shall change the elector's registration from eligible to ineligible status.

Upon receipt of reliable information that a registered elector has changed his or her residence within the municipality, the municipal clerk or board of election commissioners shall change the elector's registration and mail the elector a notice of the change.

This subsection does not restrict the right of an elector to challenge any registration under s. 6.325, 6.48, 6.925, 6.93, or 7.52(5).

Wis. Stat. § 6.50(3) (format changed for readability).

As referenced in section 6.50(3), separate statutes provide authorization and procedures for one elector to challenge another elector's registration status. For example, Wis. Stat. § 6.48 provides that "[a]ny registered elector of a municipality may challenge the registration of any other registered elector." In turn, Wis. Stat. § 6.325 provides that Case 2019AP002397 Brief of Appellants Filed 02-04-2020 Page 12 of 40

"[n]o person may be disqualified as an elector unless the municipal clerk, board of election commissioners or a challenging elector under s. 6.48 demonstrates beyond a reasonable doubt that the person . . . is not properly registered."

#### II. Relevant factual background

In 2015, the Legislature enacted a statute directing Wisconsin to join the Electronic Registration Information Center, Inc. (ERIC) for the purpose of maintaining Wisconsin's official voter registration list. The statute required the Commission to enter into a membership agreement with ERIC and to comply with the terms of the agreement. See Wis. Stat. § 6.36(1)(ae). (R. 23:3–4; 24.) The statute does not require deactivation of voter registrations, nor does it cross-reference the subsections requiring revision of the registration list, including Wis. Stat. § 6.50(3). See Wis. Stat. § 6.36(ae).

ERIC is a nonprofit consortium of states that share data about voters to help member states improve the accuracy and efficiency of their voter registration systems. ERIC helps its member states identify people who may be eligible to vote but are not registered, voters who may have moved since their last registration date, voters who are deceased, and voters who may no longer be eligible to vote. ERIC does this by comparing data about registered voters with information from other sources, like the Division of Motor Vehicles (DMV) and the United States Postal Service (USPS). (R. 23:4.)

The ERIC Membership Agreement requires member states to transmit data relating to registration of electors in the state to ERIC for sharing within the state and with other member states. (R. 23:4; 24:1–2.) The Agreement also requires member states to use data provided by ERIC to improve the accuracy of the voter rolls by contacting voters and informing them of their status and possible inaccuracies.

Case 2019AP002397 Brief of Appellants Filed 02-04-2020 Page 13 of 40

Upon receiving data from ERIC, member states must initiate contact with electors who may be eligible to vote but are unregistered and inform them how to register to vote. (R. 23:5; 24:4–5.) And member states must also initiate contact with voters whose records may be inaccurate. While the Agreement requires member states to reach out to voters appearing on the list maintenance reports, it does not mandate a process or timeframe for removal of the person from the voter registration list. (R. 23:5; 24:5.)

Every two years, Wisconsin receives a report from ERIC regarding persons who are sometimes referred to as "Movers." (R. 23:4–6.) ERIC Movers are Wisconsin residents who, in an official government transaction with, for example, the DMV or the USPS, reportedly have stated an address different from their voter registration address. (R. 23:4–5.)

After receiving the first report on ERIC Movers data in 2017, the Commission mailed postcards to the identified electors directing them to reregister if they had moved or to sign and return the card to the municipal clerk or board of elections commissioners to keep their registration current. (R. 23:5-6.) The Commission stated that the voters had 30 days in which to respond to keep their registration active. (R. 23:6.)

Based on its experience with the 2017 Movers mailing, the Commission learned that some percentage of that ERIC data was not a reliable indicator of whether an elector changed her voting residence, although the precise percentage is not currently established. (R. 4:8–12; 23:5–10.) For example, the Commission learned that some voters flagged as ERIC Movers had simply registered a vehicle or obtained a driver license at an address other than their voting address and did not intend to change their voting residence. (R. 4:9; 23:7.) The deactivation of elector registrations under these circumstances caused numerous problems and resulted in the Commission having to reactivate the registrations of

electors who may have been deactivated in error. (R. 4:8–12; 23:5–10.)

In 2019, the Commission received another report on Movers data from ERIC. (R. 23:10.) Based on what the Commission learned from the 2017 Movers data and its subsequent mailing, the Commission decided to revise its process for the 2019 Movers data. (R. 23:10.) In October 2019, the Commission sent letters to approximately 230,000 "Movers." (R. 23:10.) The letters asked electors to affirm whether they still lived at that address. If the voter affirmed that she had not moved, then the voter would remain in active status on the voter rolls at that address. (R. 23:10-11.) Because the Commission had no immediate plans for deactivation, the letter did not include notice that the elector's registration would be deactivated as a result of a nonresponse. (R. 23:10.) To the contrary, the letter told recipients that simply voting in the next election would maintain their status. (R. 23:10-11.)

For the electors who do not respond to the October 2019 mailings, the Commission decided that it would take no immediate action, but rather would seek guidance from the Legislature to the extent further action was contemplated. (R. 23:11; 52:1-2.)

### III. Litigation history

On November 13, 2019, three Wisconsin voters—Timothy Zignego, David Opitz, and Frederick Luehrs, III—filed suit against the Commission and five of its six commissioners in their official capacities. (R. 1:4–5.) Plaintiffs alleged the Commission violated Wis. Stat. § 6.50(3) by not deactivating the registrations of those electors who did not respond within 30 days after the October 2019 mailing. They sought declaratory and injunctive relief or, in the alternative, a writ of mandamus. (R. 1:3–18.)

Before the Commission's answer deadline, Plaintiffs filed a motion for a temporary injunction or, in the alternative, a writ of mandamus, along with a brief and affidavit containing exhibits. (R. 2–4.) After briefing on the motion, the circuit court held oral argument and issued an oral ruling on December 13, 2019. (R. 22–24; 45; 96.) The circuit court orally ruled that a writ of mandamus would issue to compel the Commission to comply with Wis. Stat. § 6.50(3) and deactivate the registration of the electors who did not respond within 30 days after the mailing of the October 2019 notices. (R. 131 (Mot. Hr'g. 76:12–16, Dec. 13, 2019), Resp. App. 111.)

On December 17, 2019, the circuit court entered a written writ of mandamus, which ordered: "Defendant Wisconsin Election Commission is hereby ordered to comply with the provisions of § 6.50(3) and deactivate the registrations of those electors who have failed to apply for continuation of their registration within 30 days of the date the notice was mailed under that provision." (R. 77.)

The Commission immediately filed a notice of appeal and a motion for expedited stay, and then repeatedly sought a ruling on the stay while it was pending. (R. 79; 103; 105–9.) Despite these efforts, Plaintiffs returned to the circuit court and filed a motion for contempt and remedial sanctions against the Commission and certain commissioners for not immediately deactivating the electors who did not respond to the October 2019 mailing. (R. 93.) On January 13, 2020, the circuit court found the Commission and three commissioners in contempt of court and issued a written contempt order

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> That same day, December 17, 2019, the League of Women Voters of Wisconsin and two electors filed a federal lawsuit alleging that deactivating registrations without prior notice would violate due process. League of Women Voters of Wis. v. Knudson, No. 19-CV-1029 (W.D. Wis.), (R. 111.).

Case 2019AP002397 Brief of Appellants Filed 02-04-2020 Page 16 of 40

imposing a remedial sanction of \$250 per day against the three commissioners and \$50 per day against the Commission until they complied with the writ. (R. 132 (Mot. Hr'g. 32:23–34:19, Dec. 13, 2019), Resp. App. 128–30.) The Commission immediately filed notice of appeal and a motion for expedited stay of the contempt order. (R. 117.)

The next day, this Court granted the Commission's motions to stay the writ of mandamus entered on December 13 and the contempt order issued on January 13. (R. 124; 125.) The Court later explained that it granted the stay motions because the Commission demonstrated a strong likelihood of success on the merits—particularly because Wis. Stat. § 6.50(3) does not apply to the Commission or to these circumstances—and that "the likely harm to some voters in the absence of a stay outweighs the speculative harm to other voters that the respondents argue may occur if a stay is granted." (R. 128:3, 6-17.) After it stayed the writ of mandamus, this Court further concluded "the Commission is not in contempt at this time" because "it is not possible to 'disobey' an order that does not have current legal effect." (R. 128:18.) This Court consolidated the two appeals and ordered expedited briefing. (R. 127.)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There is no basis for the writ of mandamus requiring the Commission to comply with Wis. Stat. § 6.50(3) and deactivate voter registrations on a large scale. Section 6.50(3) does not impose a clear, unequivocal, non-discretionary duty on the Commission, as required for a writ of mandamus. In fact, on its face, section 6.50(3) has no application to either the circumstances or defendants here.

First, Wis. Stat. § 6.50(3)'s deactivation of an elector's registration is triggered *only* when there is "reliable information that a registered elector has changed his or her residence to a location outside of the municipality." Wis. Stat.

Case 2019AP002397 Brief of Appellants Filed 02-04-2020 Page 17 of 40

§ 6.50(3). This standard requires a judgment-based determination applied on a voter-by-voter basis. It does not permit mass-deactivation of voter registrations without looking at specific data about particular voters and without analyzing what is "reliable" in light of any particular evidence. The circuit court here took one source of data (ERIC Movers data) that is demonstrably inaccurate as to some voters and applied it without differentiation to hundreds of thousands of voters. That was wrong. There is no clear, unequivocal, non-discretionary statutory directive to deactivate voter registrations under the circumstances presented here.

Relatedly, Plaintiffs have no right to even request deactivations under that statute, much less mass deactivations based on ERIC data. Rather, when individual electors wish to challenge another elector's eligibility, they must follow the statutory path for such challenges, which comes with a beyond-a-reasonable-doubt burden of proof.

Second, the Commission has no positive and plain duty under Wis. Stat. § 6.50(3) because that statute does not apply to the Commission. The only government entities directed to change an elector's registration status under Wis. Stat. § 6.50(3) are municipal clerks and municipal boards of election commissioners. Other subsections of Wis. Stat. § 6.50 make express reference to the defendant "commission," but subsection (3) does not. Because the Commission is not even mentioned in Wis. Stat. § 6.50(3), it has no clear duty to deactivate voter registrations pursuant to the statute, and a writ of mandamus cannot issue.

These fundamental statutory errors also create other problems: the circuit court's writ improperly gave the October 2019 mailing the status of a deactivation notice, even though that mailing informed the recipient of no such thing. The writ was also overbroad in that it purported to apply to everyone who received the October 2019 mailing, even though that

Case 2019AP002397 Brief of Appellants Filed 02-04-2020 Page 18 of 40

mailing included intra-municipality movers who are not even subject to deactivation under Wis. Stat. § 6.50(3). These collateral problems go away with a correct reading of the statute.

Lastly, although it falls away given the invalidity of the underlying order, it also is worth noting that the contempt ruling was not appropriate for additional reasons. The writ of mandamus was not a specific and unequivocal directive. Relatedly, the Commission and three Commissioners did not intentionally disobey the writ because it made repeated efforts to obtain a stay of the writ, which this Court correctly granted.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a decision to issue a writ of mandamus for an erroneous exercise of discretion. Law Enf't Standards Bd. v. Vill. Of Lyndon Station, 101 Wis. 2d 472, 493–94, 305 N.W.2d 89 (1981).

This Court reviews questions of statutory interpretation de novo. League of Woman Voters of Wis. v. Evers, 2019 WI 75, ¶ 13, 387 Wis. 2d 511, 929 N.W.2d 209. This Court also reviews questions of standing, jurisdiction, and competency de novo. Krier v. Vilione, 2009 WI 45, ¶ 14, 317 Wis. 2d 288, 766 N.W.2d 517; Vill. of Trempealeau v. Mikrut, 2004 WI 79, ¶ 7, 273 Wis. 2d 76, 681 N.W.2d 190.

This Court reviews the circuit court's use of its contempt power for an erroneous exercise of discretion. State ex rel. N.A. v. G.S., 156 Wis. 2d 338, 341, 456 N.W.2d 867 (Ct. App. 1990).

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. Plaintiffs are not entitled to a writ of mandamus.

This appeal is of a writ of mandamus, which may only issue when a public official has violated a clear and express

Case 2019AP002397 Brief of Appellants Filed 02-04-2020 Page 19 of 40

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