**RECEIVED** 06-30-2020 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

## STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP2397, 2020AP112

STATE OF WISCONSIN ex rel. TIMOTHY ZIGNEGO, DAVID W. OPITZ, and FREDERICK G. LUEHRS, III,

Plaintiffs-Respondents-Petitioners,

v.

WISCONSIN ELECTIONS COMMISSION. MARGE BOSTELMANN, JULIE GLANCEY, ANN JACOBS, DEAN KNUDSEN, AND MARK THOMSEN,

Defendants-Appellants.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT IV, APPEAL FROM FINAL ORDERS ENTERED BY THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE PAUL V. MALLOY, **PRESIDING** 

## RESPONSE BRIEF OF **DEFENDANTS-APPELLLANTS**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

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

There is a fundamental flaw with Petitioners' theory: the statutory subsection on which they rely—subsection 6.50(3)—does not apply to the Commission. It thus cannot form the basis for an order against the Commission, much less a mandamus order.

"Statutory interpretation starts with the text of the statute." Rock- $Koshkonong\ Lake\ Dist.\ v.\ DNR,\ 2013\ WI\ 74,$  ¶ 127, 350 Wis. 2d 45, 833 N.W.2d 800. If the language is plain, the inquiry stops.  $State\ ex\ rel.\ Kalal\ v.\ Circuit\ Court\ for$ 

Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. "Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." Id. ¶ 45. Further, language is interpreted in context and in light of "surrounding or closelyrelated statutes." Id. ¶ 46. "[T]he court is not at liberty to disregard the plain, clear words of the statute." Id. ¶ 46 (quotation omitted).

Subsection 6.50(3) reads in relevant part: "Upon receipt of reliable information that a registered elector has changed his or her residence to a location outside of the municipality, the municipal clerk or board of election commissioners shall notify the elector . . . . If the elector no longer resides in the municipality or fails to apply for continuation of registration within 30 days of the date the notice is mailed, the clerk or board of election commissioners shall change the elector's registration from eligible to ineligible status." Wis. Stat. § 6.50(3).

Unlike other subsections in section 6.50 that expressly refer to the Commission, subsection (3) makes no reference to the Commission; it only refers to the "municipal clerk and board of election commissioners" as the governmental bodies that have duties under the statute. Despite this, Petitioners contend that the Commission is the "board of election commissioners" as that phrase is used in subsection 6.50(3). It clearly is not.

The Wisconsin Elections Commission and the "board of election commissioners" are separate and distinct governmental entities with separate and distinct duties, as comprehensively described in the election laws. In other words, both are "technical or specially-defined" terms in the statutes. See Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 45 ("technical or

Filed 06-30-2020

specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning").

The term "board of elections commissioners" is defined and described in Wis. Stat. § 7.20. It describes entities in certain municipalities and counties: "Board of election commissioners. (1) A municipal board of election commissioners shall be established in every city over 500,000 population. A county board of election commissioners shall be established in every county over 750,000 population." It likewise provides for the county executive or the mayor to select members who reside in that county or city. Wis. Stat. § 7.20(2)–(3). A board of election commissioners is, therefore, a local entity comprised of local officials.

The Wisconsin Elections Commission has a wholly separate statutory definition. By statute, the Wisconsin Elections Commission is an independent state agency consisting of members appointed by various state officials, such as the governor, speaker of the assembly, and senate majority leader. See Wis. Stat. §§ 15.02(2), 15.61(1)(a)1.-6. The Commission has specific duties assigned by the Legislature. See Wis. Stat. § 7.08. In fact, the Legislature has stated in clear terms how it will refer to the Wisconsin Elections Commission in the election laws, including in chapter 6: "Elections commission; definition. In chs. 5 to 10 and 12, 'commission' means the elections commission." Wis. Stat. § 5.025; see also Wis. Stat. § 12.01(2). In Wisconsin's election laws, the term "commission," alone, means the Wisconsin Elections Commission.

These different uses of those terms pervade the statutes. There are more than one hundred instances in the election laws in which the term "commission" is used, and there are more than one hundred other instances in which the term "board of election commissioners" is used. They are

different terms, each with specially-defined meanings, compositions, and duties. They are not interchangeable.

The statute addressing revision of the registration list. section 6.50, illustrates this point because it separately uses those terms. On the one hand, there is subsection 6.50(1)–(2)'s four-year voter maintenance process: it is done by "the commission," not any other entity. In subsection (1), "the commission shall examine the registration records of each municipality" and "mail a notice to the elector." Wis. Stat. § 6.50(1). Under subsection (2), if an elector who was mailed a "notice of suspension" under the four-year maintenance process in subsection (1) does not respond, "the commission shall change the registration status . . . from eligible to ineligible." Wis. Stat. § 6.50(2). Subsections (1) and (2) show that the Legislature knows how to give the Commission a directive related to changing an elector's registration status: it uses the statutory term, "the commission."

On the other hand, the very next subsection in the very same statute, subsection 6.50(3), makes no mention of the "commission." It defies every principle of interpretation that language in subsection (3) could apply to the Commission.<sup>2</sup>

Further demonstrating that "the commission" is not the same as the "board of election commissioners" are subsections (2g) and (7) of section 6.50. There, the Legislature uses the terms "the commission," "municipal clerk," and "board of election commissioners" in the same sentence, referring to them with an "or." See Wis. Stat. § 6.50(2g), (7) ("When an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Despite numerous amendments to Wis. Stat. § 6.50, at no time was subsection (3) amended to include the "commission," even though the "commission" was added to other subsections in that statute and throughout chapter 6. See e.g., 2015 Wis. Act 118, §§ 69, 76, 77.

elector's registration is changed from eligible to ineligible status, the commission, municipal clerk, or board of election commissioners shall make an entry on the registration list . . . . "). Other election statutes in chapter 6 further confirm this. For example, Wis. Stat. §§ 6.275 and 6.56(3) describe "board election communications between the of commissioners" and "the commission."

Those separate terms obviously refer to separate entities. "When the legislature chooses to use two different words, we generally consider each separately and presume that different words have different meanings." Pawlowski v. American Family Ins. Co., 2009 WI 105, ¶ 22, 322 Wis. 2d 21, 777 N.W.2d 67. Here, that presumption is unnecessary because the terms are separately defined and the statutes contemplate those separate entities communicating—there is nothing to presume; it just is.

A plain-language reading of the statute shows that the Commission has no duty, much less an unequivocal one, to act under subsection 6.50(3). That is dispositive: mandamus cannot issue against an entity that is not even covered by a statute.

- 2. Petitioners ignore the plain language of the statute's coverage.
  - Petitioners' "ordinary parlance" a. and "ambiguities" arguments are irrelevant because references Commission to the and "board of elections commissioners" are defined.

Petitioners argue that the term "board of election commissioners" is not specially defined and that in "ordinary parlance" the term could include the Commission. (Pet'rs' Br. 10–12.) That is simply incorrect: the terms are speciallydefined and their use throughout the code belies Petitioners' proposed "parlance." This argument is misguided and irrelevant.

While the term "board of elections commissioners" is not defined in the "definitions" section of the election laws, see Wis. Stat. § 5.02, it is defined elsewhere. Section 7.20 sets out what a "board of elections commissioners" is: it is either a municipal or county entity. And the Commission is defined elsewhere: section 5.025 states that the "commission' means the elections commission." The terms are separately defined and, as noted above, those separate entities interact with each other in carrying out their separate duties.

Even if the statutes did not already explicitly address this, Petitioners' argument still would not make sense. The Commission is not a "board of election commissioners" in any sense of the term. The Commission is not a "board" but rather is a "commission" as that term is defined and used in the statutes. While some independent agencies are headed by boards, see Wis. Stat. §§ 15.57–15.94, the Wisconsin Elections Commission is not. It is a commission "under the direction and supervision of an administrator," not a board. Wis. Stat. § 15.61(1)(b)1. And the statutory process for selecting a board to head an independent agency is entirely different than the process for selecting commissioners for the Commission. Compare Wis. Stat. § 15.07, with Wis. Stat. § 15.61.

Refusing to accept this, Petitioners point to alleged "ambiguities" in the statutory language. (Pet'rs' Br. 22–26.) They argue that the relevant statutes are "a bit of a hodgepodge" and that the term "board of elections commissioners" must be read with "flexibility." (Pet'rs' Br. 21 n.10, 25.) Even if this were true, which it is not, such "ambiguities" about the coverage of the statute would not be subject to mandamus relief. *See Beres*, 34 Wis. 2d at 231–32. Further, Petitioners' arguments are without merit.

Petitioners argue that because the statutes sometimes refer to the Wisconsin Elections Commission as the "elections commission," rather than the "commission," then the could also be the "board Commission of elections commissioners." (Pet'rs' Br. 23.) Petitioners' conclusion does not follow from their premise. It is true that the statutes sometimes use "commission" and "elections commission" interchangeably. The statutes make that explicit: section 5.025 states that the "commission' means the elections commission." But that statute does not say that either term means "board of election commissioners" and, of course, they do not, as the term "board of election commissioners" is separately-defined and particularly-used throughout the code.3

Before this Court, Petitioners now go even further. They argue, for the first time, that not only should section 6.50(3) be expanded to include the Commission but also that "board of election commissioners" should be read to include the Commission in subsections (4), (5), (7), and (8) as well. (Pet'rs' Br. 23–24.) Essentially, they argue that any changes to the registration list must be completed by the Commission, despite the fact that none of these subsections refer to it. Again, there is no support for this argument in the statutory text. To illustrate, Petitioners have no explanation for subsection (7), where the statute uses the terms "the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Relatedly, Petitioners argue that if "the legislature has drawn a sharp distinction between 'boards' and 'commissions' such that one can never be the other, then 'board of elections commissioners' would be an oxymoron." (Pet'rs' Br. 11.) The underlying premise for this argument is wrong. The Legislature describes both boards and commissions as having "members." See Wis. Stat. §§ 7.20(2), 15.06(1), 15.07, 15.61. Thus, whether an entity is a "board" or a "commission" is dependent upon the statute creating the entity, not on whether its members are referred to as board members or commissioners.

commission," "municipal clerk," and "board of election commissioners" in the same sentence. See Wis. Stat. § 6.50(7).

The tasks under subsections (3)–(6) are in reality completed by local entities, just as the statutes instruct. Petitioners point to statements made by counsel at a circuit court hearing as evidence of what the statute means. (Pet'rs' Br. 29-30.) They note that "[n]either counsel was able to point to any instance of a *municipal* clerk or *municipal* board of elections commissioners taking any action under this statute to send out notices to movers or deactivate movers who failed to respond to such notices." (Pet'rs' Br. 30.) But whether counsel could point to a specific instance—something not put at issue prior to that point—means nothing.4 In reality, municipalities certainly do administer subsections (3)–(6), which as summarized in the background, specifically contemplate processes that are done locally based on local information. The Commission's role is merely to assist: "[T]he municipal clerk or board of election commissioners may ask the Commission staff for assistance because revisions could be numerous or the municipal clerk otherwise needs technical assistance." (R. 23:3 ¶ 10.)

Petitioners also argue that "board of election commissioners" should be read broadly because, elsewhere, a statute more specifically refers to a "municipal board of election commissioners." See Wis. Stat. § 5.40(7). But Petitioners again misunderstand the statutes. By statute, there are municipal and county boards of election commissioners. When a statute solely refers to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Further evidence of specific applications of subsection 6.50(3) would require factual development that had not occurred yet in this case. But the Respondents can represent that there certainly would be further evidence that municipalities do these things; that is how the system works.

"municipal" version it just means the county version is not implicated by the particular provision. See Wis. Stat. § 7.20.

Finally, Petitioners essentially assert that their view of the statutes should govern, despite the statutory language, because otherwise, the ERIC data goes to waste. (Pet'rs' Br. 24.) That is wrong. The Commission can and does provide the information to the voters, which empowers those voters to take action, if appropriate. (R. 23:5, 10–11; 24:5.) Further, the information from ERIC is included on WisVote, which local entities can access, when necessary. See Wis. Stat. § 6.36(1)(c); (R. 4:25–44.) This is expressly what the data is for, and *this* is how ERIC data is used to improve the accuracy of the voter rolls. (R. 23:5; 24:5.)

The text of subsection 6.50(3) is clear, and it does not apply to the Commission.

> b. The Commission's duty to maintain the registration nothing about which says responsible entities for are revision of the list.

Petitioners contend that the Commission's responsibility for "maintenance" of the registration list under a separate chapter of the statutes, in Wis. Stat. § 5.05(15), somehow implicitly amends the express terms of subsection 6.50(3), without any reference to it or its revision mechanism. (Pet'rs' Br. 13–22.) This contention is meritless.

Subsection 5.05(15) provides, in relevant part, that "[t]he commission is responsible for the design and maintenance of the official registration list." "Maintain" does not mean change. Just the opposite. The dictionary defines "maintain" as "to keep in an existing state." Maintain, Merriam-Webster. http://www.merriam-webster.com/ dictionary/maintain (last visited June 28, 2020).

Page 31 of 50

the Commission is generally required "maintain" or "keep" the registration list does not address when a revision is triggered. Rather, section 6.50 specifically addresses "revision" of the list. In other words, these two statutes do not address the same topic. And, even if they did, a general statute would yield to the more specific revision statute. See Kramer v. City of Hayward, 57 Wis. 2d 302, 311, 203 N.W.2d 871 (1973).

Indeed. the Commission's revision duties are specifically addressed in section 6.50 through the four-year audit process in subsections (1) and (2). Subsections (3) through (6), in contrast, require local entities to make revisions. Without citation, Petitioners assert that local entities only act "at the direction and instruction of [the Commission]." (Pet'rs' Br. 16 n.9.) But that is not true and also is not what the law says. Contrary to Petitioners' assertion. municipal clerks and boards of elections commissioners are expressly authorized to make changes to registration list, and they do. See Wis. Stat. §§ 6.36(1)(b)1.b., (1)(c), 7.20(1).

For the first time in this case, Petitioners now argue that their counter-textual reading is necessary for the statutes to function at all. (E.g., Pet'rs' Br. 18–22.) But this argument is not preserved, and it should not be considered now. See Schill v. Wis. Rapids Sch. Dist., 2010 WI 86, ¶ 45 n.21, 327 Wis. 2d 572, 786 N.W.2d 177. It also is wrong.

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